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W ILLIAM BOOTH was tried on Friday, July 81, 181¢,
for forging a 1/ note, purporting to be a promissory note
of the Bank of England.

Mr. BarNEs opened the case on the part of the prose-
cution.

Mr. Jervis followed ; who stated, that this was an 1n-
dictment for the crime of torgery, and the prisoner stood
charoed upon that indictment In different ways:—one
charge was, that he had been guilty of forging this note;
another, that he had uttered 1t knowing it to be forged;
and these offences were varied in the different counts of
the indictment.—1'he prisoner lived 1n an old farm house
at Perry Barr, which was in the parish of Handsworth, In
the county of Stafford, and which house was at a con=
siderable distance from any other dweliing; healso rented



3
land to a considerable extent: his family consisted of
himself, his wife, George Scot, three men of the name of
Yates, John Barrows, and Elizabeth Chidlow: he had
two other persons (servants) of the name of Ingeley,
who would be brought forward on the part of the prose-
cutin.  The house of the prisoner being thus privately
situated, was well adapted for'carrying on a business which
required privacy, and he would now proceed to inform
them of the precautions taken by the prisoner to prevent
that privacy from being disturbed :—QOn entering the
house you find a passage, which communicates with the
Kitchen and also with the parlour, but the communication
with the parlour was secured by three strong doors; the
first was a thick strong oak door, with hinges also very
strong, fastened by a lock and seven bolts, five of which
bolted one way, that is on that part of the door which
opens, the other two bolted the other way, namely, at
that part of the door to which the hinges were affixed,
and this door was further secured by the upper part of it
being covered with iron of considerable thickness; the
second door was secured by four strong pieces of wood or
wooden bars, going across the whole breadth of the door,
each being let into the wall by a hole at one end, and the
other end falling 1into a hook or holdfast ; the third door
was secured by three strong square oak bars, in similar
manner to the second ; and there was no other communi-
cation on the ground floor with that parlour but through
these three doors: over that parlour there was a chamber,
and over that chamber a garret, and formerly a staircase
led out of that passage to these two upper rooms; but
when the prisoner’s house was searched by the constables
from Birmingham, the communication between the stair-
case and those rooms was stopped, the entrance or door
way in both chamber and garret being bricked up, so that
the only way to get into that chamber was through a trap
door in the cieling of the parlour, which was fastened down
by two iron bars fastened together in the middle, and
moving on a pivot, two ends of which were affixed in
staples, and the others shut down on hasps, where they
could be fastened either by pegs or locks, and these bars
when put down formed a 4 over this trap door ; 'in the
cieling of that chamber was another trap door, which was

the only way into the garret over, and which was fastened
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by two bars laid over it transversely, and fastened in
simifar manner by staples and hasps ; there were moveable
ladders by which thosc of the prisoner’s family who wanted
to go into those upper rooms ascended to the trap doors,
and the ladders were light, - so that they could be easily
drawn up after them. — In consequence of suspicions
against the prisoner, and that his house contained such
implements as were afterwards discovered in it, and that
stolen goods were also there, the constables of Birming -
ham, having obtained a warrant for that purpose, and
taking with them several other persons appointed special
constables for that occasion, together with a party of
dragoons, went to the prisoner’s house ; for, having been
1informed that the house of the prisoner was fortified and .
barricaded in the way that had been described, it was
deemed nccessary to have such a force as would have
rendered resistance on his part unavailing, and therefore
this number of constables and soldiers were collected, and
on the 16th of March last they proceeded to the pri-
soner’s house, and on the way having (perhaps Impru=
dently) called at a public-house about a quarter of a
mile from the prisoner’s (the Boar's Head, at Perry Barr)
they were seen by a woman named Dorothy Ingeley, the
wife of one of those Ingeieys wio were before mentioned
as forming part of the family of the prisoner, who having
heard or otherwise suspecting the errand on which they
were going, made all possible haste to the prisoner’s house,
and by going a nearer way by the footpath than what the
officers did, she arrived there a short time before them,
and gave the alarm ; this woman would be p-oduced as 2
witness on behalf of the prosccution, and would prove
that when she first got to ‘the house she saw Elizabeth
Chidlow, who communicated her intelligence to the pri-
soner, who was in the parlour, and then came to the
woman (Ingeley) and affected to disbelieve the intelli-
gence ; he then returned into the parlour, and slammed
the doors to, and fastened them, so as to sccure the pas-
sage 1nto the parlour, aud when the officers of justice
arrived they found the parlour inaccessible, the three
doors in the passage being secured in the way already
described; nor conld any entrance be forced through the
window, it being fastened by strong oak inside shutters,
‘secured by thick iron bars not more than four inches
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distant froin eacli other; the windows in the chamber over
the parlour were equally maccessible, bemg fastened simi-
larly to that in the parlour, and with bars of equal
strength ; the officers were therefore obliged to place a
ladder against the house, so as to ascend to the garret
window, and as one ot the officers was ascending the lad-
der he saw the prisoner in the chamber, who was then
carrying small pieces of paper resembling bank notes
tfrom a bench in the middle of that room, and putting them
into the fire, which was tn the same chamber; he called
out to the prisoner, and asked liim to let him in ; prisoner
replied he would presently; on which the officer again
called out to him, telling him he was dropping notes ; the
ofticer then ascended to the garret window, and by usmg
a considerable degree of force got in there, and when he
had obtained entrance he was soon followed by others ;
in the garret they found a great variety of engines, and
m short every implement necessary for forging com, m
rmitation of the 3s. tokens and dollars issued by the Bank ;
not one implement necessary for that purpose was want-
ing, except the dies by which the impression was made,
and it could be sheawn that the prisoner, fearful of a dis-
covery, and well knowing the consequenees which would
inevitably attach to those dies being found in his posses-
sion, was in ‘the habit of having them buned, or as the
cant phrase was, planted, immediately after they had been
used ; unless the officers arrived at the very moment when
he was 1n the act of coining, those dies could not be found
on the house being searched; this was also the case with
the coin itself when struck : having seen what was in the
garret, the officers descended through the trap doorinto
the chamber beneath, and they there found every imple-
ment necessary for forging bank notes, except the plates,
on which the words printed on the notes were engraved,
those plates (like the dies) being also planted: they
found there charcoal, cokes, a coke fire, a rolling press, or
copper-plate printing press, and a stamp for putting on
the number of the note; they then descended into the
parlour, where they found the prisoner, Elizabeth Chid-
low, and James Yates, and having while in the chamber
perceived that a considerable quantity of paper had been
destroyed by fire, they, after securing the prisoner, re-as-
cended into the chamber, and having knocked in a part of
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the chimney above the fire-place, and put in their hands,
they brought out several burnt pieces ot paper, and among
the rest a note of which part only had been burnt, but of
which sutficient remained to shew that it had been a Bank
of England promissory note, or rather an imitation of’ one,
and which part would be produced in evidence ; the ofti-
cers then searched other parts of the house, and on going
to a room over the dairy, then used as a lumber room, and
which room led to another called the granary, they tound
the door locked, and having forced it open they found in
-that room every material necessary for fabricating bank
‘paper, upon a beam at some height, and so situated that it
couid not be seen unless by a tall person standing on a
chair, or otherwise raised by some means; they found a
mould with wire fastened thereon, and the words ONL
near the top, and BANK OF ENGLAND near the bot-
tom, in worked wire, calculated for making the appearance
of bank paper, for these wires gave the lines called water
marks in the waved manner in which theyv are made in the
rcal bank notes, and the words so worked appeared in the
paper similar to the same words in what are called the
water marks in genuine notes ; in another place they found
“two pieces of pasteboard, on which were pin marks, and to
“which the paper was fastened for the purpose of recerv-
ing the impression of those waved lines ; 1 the next room
was found a quantity of pulp, or pulverized rags, with
linen and an instrument called a hog, being a machme for
working by means of hair brushes the puip m the tub, to
~bring it into a proper state to make paper; there was m
- short every necessary for the purpose ot making this sort of
paper, and when this part of the evidence was detailed by
the witnesses, there would be no doubt but that these ma-
terials were employed by the prisoner and his family 1n
making paper of this description, and the prisoner by this
~indictment was charged with forging a Bank of England
note for the sum of 14 and there would be no question that
the evidence to be adduced would shew that by himself,
or his associates, the note in question was fabricated. The
learned Judge would inform the jury thatit the note was
by circumstances proved to have been made by his direc-
tion, or even with his knowledge, he (the prisoner) would
be equally criminal in the ecye of the law as it his own
* bands had formed that note, Mr. Jervis said he had men-
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tioned that two persons of the name of Ingeley formed
part of the tamily in the house of the prisoner, these per-
sons, either stung by remorse, or for some other reason,
had given information which led to a discovery of those
plates, which he had before stated were the only imple-
ments wanting in the chamber for completing the notes;
and though the testimony of persons who had acted as
accomplices, and had assisted in the criminal transactions
of others who were charged with offences, for which the
legislature had inflicted punishment, was always to be re-
ceived with caution, yet when that testimony was confirm-
ed by credible witnesses, or facts, which would be the case
here, they were then entitled to that degree of credit, which
the life they had led and the actions they had been guilty
of had deprived them of; in consequence of the discovery
made by these persons four plates engraved with the form
of a blank bank note which they had planted, were dug
up in three different places of a field on which wheat was
growing, and which adjoined to the rick yard of the pri-
soner; two of these plates were in one place, one in ano-
ther, and one i another; in consequence also of that
discovery, a trunk containing several 10/ several 5/ and
about 200 of 1/. bank notes, or forged notes in imitation
of bank notes, and some local notes, were found; those
local notes were also forged ones, as were also six narrow
plates which had engravings on them, the use of which
would be explamed by the witnesses. It would be shewn
that when the alarm was given by Mrs. Ingeley, the pri-
soner directed one of the Ingeleys to take that trunk and
plant 1t at 2 considerable distance from the house, say-
ing the notes in 1t were done; this was not true in the
whole, some of them not being completed, but many of
them were, and on one of those notes the present indict-
ment was founded, and 1t would be for the jury to say if
the prisoner was or was not guilty of forging that parti-
cular note, for though he was indicted for uttering as well
- as forging it, yet 1t was only necessary for the jury in this
case to consider that part of the indictment which charged
him with the crime of forgery: of the four plates so found
one was engraved for making an impression of a 10/ note,
one of a 5/. note, and twvo of 1/ notes, and there was
- proof that notes had been made from all those plates, and

the note partly burnt, which would be produced, would
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be proved to be made from the plate, of the same paper,
and with the same mould, as the note which was the
subject of the present indictment; the note so in part
burnt was not filled up or signed, 1t was what was termed
a blank note; the note i question had been filled up, and
was signed with the name of J. Knight, The statement
he had made would be proved by the evidence, and it
would then be for the jury to say whether the prisoner was
guilty or not.

The first witness called on behalf of the prosecution was

Dorothy Ingeley (evamined by AMlr. Barxrs)—who
stated herself to be the wife of Richard Ingeley, and
that her husband worked with the prisoner; that on the
16th day of March last she was passing by the Boar’s
Head public-house, at Perry Barr, and saw -some gentle-
men and soldiers there; she did not know who they were,
but somebody said they were runners going to—[ Here the
witness was asked if the prisoner was present—she said he
was not ; she was then told she must not say what she heard
when he was absent.;—In consequence of somewhat which
she heard she immediately set otf for prisoner’s house; she
went the foot-way, and when she came there she first saw
her brother-in-law, John Ingeley, and Elizabeth Chidlow;
and Mrs. Chidlow went out of the kitchen, and soon after-
wards Booth came to her, and asked her what tale 1t was
that she had brought ; she told him she could tell nothing
tor truth, she had seen some gentlemen and soldiers, but
she could not tell if they were coming to his house—she
told him where she had seen them; she did not hear what
was sald by Mrs. Chidlow to Booth ; when Booth left her
she heard the doors in the passage between the kitchen and
parlour shut to, but she did not hear him say any thing—
did not hear him swear; the gentlemen and soldiers came
to the house presently after, the same persons she had
seen at the Boar’s Head. ,

Cross-evamined by Mr. Crirrorp.—Her husband did
not live constantly at Booth's- slept there, or at least
slept from home some nights, but never for a week toge-
ther; he used to come home every night until about a
weck before Booth was taken up.—[ 447 C!g‘/}_"brd was pro-
ceeding with other questions, on the subyject of her Iwa'é(md
sleeping at or from home, but the Court though't fem irres
levant. | B | |
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Mr. John Linwood, 1s one of the Constables of Birming-
ham, and in consequence of information that had becn re-
cetved, he went to the prisoner’s house on Monday the 16t
of March last, accompanied by ten special constables and
seven dragoons; the party stopt at the Boar’s Head, Perry
Barr, buthe was not there more than a minute; they then
proceeded to the prisoner’s house, which 1s situate at
Perry Barr, in the parish of Handsworth, in the county
of Stattord; it stands at a distance of 200 or 300 yards
from any other house; itis apparently an old farm house,
mto which the entranceis by a porch, on the right hand
of which is a hall or kitchen, with a brewhouse and dairy :
the dairy i1s i the front, and the brewhouse behind ; there
18 a passage 6 or 7 feet iong, which leads to the parlour;
on the left hand of the entrance he attempted to get into
this parlour, but 1t was so fastened that he could not force
1t open; he went up a staircase within the house, leading
out of the kitchen; the door on the left of the stair-
case which used to lead mto the chamber was Dblocked
up witn brickwork, apparently new; he then went higher
up the stairs, thinking to get into the garret, but the door
way there was also bricked up, and a considerable quantity
of lun.ber lay against it. On the right hand the staircase
communicated with the rooms over the kitchen; all those
on the left hand were blocked up; there was a window
m the parlour which looked into the fold, and, by the
woodwork, appeared to be a new window, the wood
was oak, and very strong, the jambs of the window
were laid into the wall, both at top and bottom, for
at least 18 inches at each ead, and were fastened by an
iron pin screwed within-side with a cramp to it, the up-
rights were the same thickness as the jambs—he supposes
they were from eight to ten inches of solid square oak ;
there were also four round iron bars to that window, they
were let into the wood, and were three-fourths of an inch
or an mch thick of wrought iron, and about four inches
from each other; the inside of that window was plated all
over with 1ron about one-fourth of an inch thick: he is
certain the sides and uprights were covered with the iron
plate, but is not sure as to the bottom—the top was not
S0 coveEred ; these plates were firmly fastened on with nails,
which were tuvge strong mnails; there were two windows

in the chamber 0w yhe harlour, one of which looked. into
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the garden and the other into the fold-yard, the latter was
a new one laid into the wall, and fastened with pins and
screws like that in the parlour, except that he thinks the
chamber window was not plated 1 the inside with iron
there were two tron bars to 1t, 1t was a two-light window,
so was the parlour window, there was one bar to ecach
light, which would prevent any one getting into the
chamber at that window, there being very little more
than four inches between the wood work of the window
and the bar, there was an inside shutter to that window
the other window which looks backwards 1s a smaller
window of new wood of the same strength with the
other, and fastened in the wall in like manner -1t 1s a small
single light window with oneiron bar, and there were not
more than four inches between the wood and the bar; there
were shutters to each of those windows made of two 1nch
thick oak, with bars to each, fastened at one end with a
pin, and let at the other end into a holdfast: there were
three windows in the garret, one looking into the fold-
yard, one into the garden, and one in the gable end; these
were all old windows, of thick strong oak each, with oak
shutters, having each three bolts—no glass n the garret
windows, the bolts were of iron about an inch thick.
Mpr. Chirm had procured a ladder, which was reared
against the front of the house; Chillingworth first went
up it; Chirm followed him ; the doors leading to the par-
lour could not be wrenched open, the doors were after-
wards opened and they went in; there were three doors
the passage, through which they must go to get into the
parlour; the first a strong oak door, which opened upon or
towards them on going 1n, there were seven bolts on -it,
they were in the inside towards the parlour, five of them
fastened on the right as he stood facing the door, and two
of them on the lett, they all passed into the door-case, each
through an iron case, near the top of the door was a strong
iron bar at least half an inch thick, 1t went all across or
along the door, it was a very strong door of old dark oak,
he did not observe any lock on it; thesecond door opened
from them as they went in, that was a strong double-inch
door, with a strong door-casc apparently new, that door
was fastened by four bars of solid oak, he thinks about
four inches square, let into the wall for about six inches at
one end, and dropped into an iron hasp or holdfast at the
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other; thethird door was at the entrance into the parlour,
and was fastened by a lock and three bars similar to those
in the middle door, they led to no other place but the par-
lour ; when they got into the parlour, they saw a small
trap door cut through the cieling about the middle of the
room, there were no other means to get into the chamber
but by a moveable ladder, justlong enough to get up by,
the trap door was of double-inch oak, notnew, with very
strong hinges, 1t was a flat door and lifted up; in the
chamber there were cross 1ron bars with two staples and
hasps, so that the ends of the bars were put into the sta-
ples, and then the other two ends were let upon the hasps
or holdfasts and fastened down, the bars when down formed
a ¥ over the door, they moved on a pivot where they
were fastened together, that is in the middle. A si-
milar trap door and ladder communicated with the garret
from the chamber: there were two ladders there at the time
of search, the trap door was small, just large enough to
admit a man, a larger man than witness might get through,
but it would be very tight for him; the trap door in the
oarret floor had two oak bars, moderately strong, to fasten
it down, they were sufficiently strong to make the door
secure. On witness’s going into the parlour, the prisoner
(Booth), James Yates, and Elizabeth Chidlow, ‘were there ;
the prisoner had a dirty flannel jacket on, his hands were
very dirty, and appeared to be besmeared with printing
ink; witness secured prisoner in the parlour by handcuffs,
and then went up the chamber through the trap door; as
he was about to ascend into the chamber, he saw Chil-
lingworth and Chirm come down from the garret through
the other trap door into the chamber; he has a list of the
things found in that chamber, 1t was made at the time of
search, and is in his own hand writing, 1itis a list of every
thing found 1n the house; those in the chamber were—
A pamr of rollers, with four boards and the bench on
which the rollers stood, with some pieces of woollen
cloth smeared with printing ink.
Some printing 1k, ready prepared for use, in a small
jar.
A woollen boss besmeared with printing ink, he thinks

of the sort used for putting ink on the plate, the ink
was moist and fit for use.

A quantity of copper plates,
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A brick stove, with hot coak fire, very hot, equal to melt
“metal. o | | '

Also a fire in the chamber fire place, that firc made of
coals. _‘

Many other articles were in the chamber, but not enu-
merated by Mr. Linwood at this time, they not re-
lating to the present charge against the prisoner.

The boards had printing ink on them, and appeared as if
lately used. Witness met Chirm and Chillingworth in the
chamber, and they saw in the fire-place many remains of
burnt paper --witness therefore ordered Chillingworth to
break a hole in the chimney a small height above the iire-
place, which he did, and putting his hand through 1t into
the chimney he brought out a considerable quantity of
burnt paper, which witness tried to connect’so as to ascer-
tain what they were, but they were so much burnt he could
not; they then made the hole larger and Chillingworth
acgain put his hand in, and then brought out a piece of
paper, in part burnt, which was the note now shewn to
witness—[7This was a 1l. note dated 16¢th May, 1811, com-
plete, except the signature, which was not written|-—-He put
his name upon it, and put that in his pocket, and kept it
till he delivered 1t to Mr. W. Spurrier the same evening ; he
did not part with the possession of it until after he had put
his name upon 1t—the note now produced is the same that
Chillingworth brought out of the chimney; the wit-
ness and the others then went into the garret, but as what
they found there related to another charge, and not to this,
he did not enumerate them; they then went down into the
parlour, and from thence proceeded to the room over the
kitchen; they then went into the lumber room over the
brewhouse, the door of which was locked—they forced it
open, and witness, NMr. Clay, and Gideon Taylor, went in
—they looked about for some time, and obscrving a beam
which went over the door and extended from one side of the
room to the other, he directed Taylor to get upon a chair,
and look if any thing was upon that beam—Taylor found a
mould upon it, with wires, which he handed to witness,
who gave 1t to Clay; he next found a quantity of brass
wire, some flat and .some round, which was given to
Brownell (who was then come into the lumber room); Tay-
lor also found on the beam a small deal board and two
pieces of pasteboard, which were given to Clay ; they then
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went into the granary which communicates with the lum-
ber room, there1s a door way between them but no door,
and no other way into the granary but through the lumber
room—in that room found another frame or mould similar
to that in the lumber room, only that 1t had very little wire
on—witness has that, and has had possession of it ever
since ; they also found in the granary two tubs with water
and pulp 1 them, thepulp mm a proper state for making
paper, 1t was so lightas to make 1tscarcely possible to catch
a bit with the hand—witness has kept this ever since, and
1t has been watered occasionally to keep it, as 1t loses co-
lour by keeping without water; they next found a wood
machine with bristles 1, called a hog, some white linen,
alum, calves-cars, and dried skins for size, small pieces of
wire, flat, similar to that in the frame, in waved lines,
and a sheet or piece of wove wire with paper pulp upon it.
On the 17th they searched again, and then found a copper
frame in the granary, some flat wire, three boards, and
some linen rags—he saw the rags, alum, and calves-ears,
on the 16th, but they remained there until the 17th; the
door was locked, that 1s, the staple which had been forced
out was put in again, and they found the things in the
same state on the Tuesday as they left them on the Mon-
day. Witness left Clay and Chillingworth to take care
of the house ; on Tuesday the 17th they found in a bureau
in the parlour some balls of printing ink, they were given
to Baker—witness took them out of the bureau and gave
them to Daker; on the 19th again scarched the granary,
but he does not recollect that any thing was then found
there-- the frame was found m the granary on the 17th,
he did not see 1t on the 16th, 1t hung against the wall.—
[The tub with the pulp in it, and the hog, were produced
in Court, together with a large sheet of fine wire, whick
had some pulp wupon it.}]—They were identified by the
witness, who stated that the wire was not upon the hog
when found, but was laid by the side of the tub.
Joseph Chillingworth assisted in searching prisoner’s house
on the 16th of March last, and the eight ensuing days; he
entcred it by a ladder through a window in the attic story
or garret—in going up the ladder he saw the prisoner in
the room or chamber over the garret, witness was then
in front of the house, hesaw no one but prisoner in thag
‘1oomj when he first saw prisoner, he (prisoner) came up
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to the window, witness asked him if he would let him 1n,
prisoner replied I will just now”—witness then broke the
olass of the window, and prisoner drew back to about the

centre of the room, and then took a quantity of papers n
his hand from oft somcthing that stood in the room, with
machinery fixed upon 1t witness afterwards found 1t was
a bench with a pair of rollers fixed on it, he took the
papers off the bench, they seemed to be the size of bank
notes, and put them into the fire; witness called out to him,
“ Booth, you are dropping them-—Booth, you are drop-
ping them ™ —witness saw prisoner do this three times; the
fire place has a flue leading out of the chamber, there was
fire then in the fire place; witness then went up the ladder
and forced his way through the window lid, or shutter;
this window was directly over thatin the chamber, through
which he saw Booth; he forced open the shutter by means
of an iron instrument; Chirm soon followed him; witness
jumped out of the garret through the trap door into the
chamber or middle room, thinking there to meet with
Booth, but as he was jumping down he saw Booth going
through the lower trap door into the parlour; witness did
not {ollow Booth, but stopped in the chamber, and ran
to the fire plece, and putting his hand up the chimney,

pulled down a good deal of burnt paper; Linwood,
Brownell, and Chirm, came to him in the chamber; he then
broke a hole into the breast of the chimney in that same
room, and pulled out many burnt papers, he then enlarged
the hole, and found further up the chimuey a note that was
but little burnt, and several other burnt papers ; he gave
that note to his master (Brownell) to look at, Mr. Lin-
wood was present; Brownell returned it to witness and
directed him to mark it, which he did ; the note now shewn
to him [the note part of which was burnt] is the same, he

put the letters Ch. upon it.—Witness, Dale, and Gceorge
Redfearn, were left in possession of the house; after Mr.
Linwood left on the 16th, no person entered the parlour,
indeed they could not, Linwood having taken the key
with him; on the 17th they searched the parlour, in the
chimney they found several pieces of paper burnt, one
not so completely burnt as the rest; it was burnt brown all
over, but not destroyed, he gave it to Brownell. Witness
kept possession of the house eight days, indeed nimne days,
including the day he went, Monday the 16th. Onthe
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Friday following be found in a ficld adjoining the nck
vard, a plate for throwing oft bank notes, 1t was shewn him
by Richard Ingeley, and wasnear the hedge in the barn
close, it was buried about nine inches or a spade graft be-
low the surface; Richard Ingeley said he had planted 1t
by Booth’s direction, and shewed witness the place, and
witness dug it up, and afterwards marked 1t. The plate
now shewn is the same plate, it 1s a copper plate, and
marked with Ch. in the corner.

- Williain Daniel Brownell, keeper of the prison 1n Bordes-
ley, adjoining Birmingham, assisted in searching Booth’s
house on the 16th and several successive days; he saw
Chillingworth get in at the garret window, he (witness)
had broke the glass of the parlour window, and stood out-
side of it when Chillingworth was getting 1n at the garret
window ; witness saw a ladder put through the trap door
into the parlour, and Elizabeth Chidlow came down it,
and was almost immediately followed by Booth—Chilling-
worth had got in before Booth came down 1nto the par-
lour, witness had entirely demolished the glass in the par-
lour window, the bars 1t was impossible for hun to break;
Booth began to unfasten the door, and then witness went
round to meet him, thinking he might mean to escape—
Linwood and he then went into the parlour.  [7%e witness
was proeceding to describe his going into the chamber, and
what he saw there, but it was stated to be a repetition of
what had been proved by Linwood and Chillingworth, there-

. fore the Counsel for the prosccution emitted that part of
the evamination, but the note found in the chamber was now
shewn to witness.|—He believed that was the note found n
the chamber, but he did not mark it, he directed Chilling-
worth to mark 1t.  On the 17th they again searched the
parlour, and Chillingworth brought several pieces
of paper out of the parlour chimney, and gave them to
witness, who has had them ever since in his possession—in
the paper are the words ONE and BANK OF ENGLAND,
made 1n the paper not marked inink, there are also waved
Lnes. This witness also corroborated Mr. Linwood as to
the finding brass wire both round and flat in the granary
on the 16th.

- Gideon 1 a_z/lor was _assisting in the search at Booth’s on
the 16th; he was in the lumber room, Clay and Linwood
were with bim ; he found the brass wire frame on the beam
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sver the door, concealed behind a piece of plank, and also
two pieces of pasteboard, one with a small deal board to 1t,
the other without; he guve them to Mr. Linwood, who de-
lvered them to Clay.

Charles Clay was present at the search on the 16th March,
and saw the mould and two pieces of pasteboard men-
tioned by Linwood and last witness, he scribed his name
on the mould, and wrote it on the two pieces of paste-
board and the deal board, he kept them 1n his possession
till delivered to the Bank of Lngland agents, previous
to which he put his name upon them; those shewn him
now are the same.

John Ingeley knows the prisoner, has been employed by
him ever since last Christmas; he lived in an old farm
house at Perry Barr, and had as much as 200 acres of land.
Prisoner has strengthened the windows and doors of his
house since witness lived with him, particularly the par-
lour and two chambers [witness meant the chamber and
garret already described]. On the Friday week before
Booth was taken, he applied to witness to work for him in
the house, and from that day witness slept in the house,
which he had not done before, until that day witness had
been employed in threshing in the farm; when witness
went into the house, prisoner’s family consisted of himself,
his wife, Elizabeth Chidlow, James Yates, witness’s bro-
ther Richard, the elder John Yates, John Yates the
younger, George Scot, and John Barrows ; the three Yates’s
slept there during the time witness was in the house, he does
not say all the time, they were on and off’; Scot was there
all the time, so was Chidlow ; Barrows came there the Sa-
turday before they were taken: on the Monday, the day
Booth was taken up, Dorothy Ingeley came to Booth’s
house, she spoke to witness and Elizabeth Chidlow, who
were both present in the kitchen, he saw Chidlow go and
rap at the parlour door, and told Booth the runners were
coming, Booth came out of the parlour 1n consequence,
and said to Dorothy Ingeley, “ Good woman, what bother
have you brought here?” she said, in answer, there were
some gegtlemen coming through Perry, and they said they
were the runners;” Booth replied, “ It 15" a damn’d lie,
they durst not come here ” Booth then went back to the
parlour, and immediately afterwards called witness to him
$¢ . a .
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into the parlour; and gave him a small trunk [witness was
shewn a trunk on the table in the court, which he belicved to
be the same] ; he told witness the things in it were done,
and he must take 1t and plant it on the far side the ground,
he did not direct precisely where, but only said oun the far
side the farm ; the officers and soldiers were not then come ;.
the trunk was not then locked, the witness took 1t and
planted 1t 1 the field adjoining the wood, he dug a hole
with a spade, put in the trunk, and covered it with earth
and muck, and buried 1t, they were emptying the fold yard
of the muck at that time, and he put a cart load of 1t upon
the place where he buried the trunk; when he came back
to the house the officers were there; he had before been
directed by Booth to hide two copper-plates, they were
large ones, and he had done so on the Tuesday morning
before the Monday on which Booth was apprehended ;
prisoner had told witness to plant them at some distance
from the house, witness planted them in a wheat field ad-
ioining the rick yard, 1n the ditch, he put both into one
ole, made the hole with a spade, they were wrapped up

m cloth, he covered them with soil;. on the same day
(Tuesday) he was directed by prisoner to plant a single
plate, that too was wrapped up in cloth, he told witness to
plant 1t at a distance from the house, witness made a hole
m the same field put that plate in and covered it with soil:
3 quantity of narrow plates were given to witness by pri-
soner’s wife, prisoner was not present, he was to plant
them, which he did, by putting them under the thatch of
a wheat rick, in the rick yard, he received these from Mrs.
Booth, in the parlour, Booth was then in bed in the room
over the parlour; on that morning Booth had fell through
the trap door, and had hurt himself. Witness was taken
up on the Friday after Booth’s apprehension, he had not
then given any information of wﬁat he had done with the,
things he had planted, but he did give information on the
same day where he had planted them, he went with Chirm
and some other of the gentlemen, and shewed them the
places, first he took them to the wheat field adjoining the
rick yard, and then to the other places, and shewed them
all the things he had planted, they were all found in the
same places he had planted themin
Cross-evamined by Mr. ALLey.—Witness gave the in-

formation the same day he was taken prisoner, he had not
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heen in custody four days before he gave it, he told it to
Chirm on the same day (the Friday), Chirm told him if he
kuew of any thing, and would tell of it, he should be well
rewarded, he did not threaten witness with punishment it
he did not tell ; no other person was present when he told
Chirm. Witness’s brother was apprehended the same day ;
witness does not know if any promise was made to his bro-
ther: a number of persons had access to Booth’s house;
Scot lived and lay there long before witness went into the
house, and continued there till he was apprehended 5 wit-
ness was not taken into custody on the Monday, but went
about the work on the farm till Friday. |

- Mr. Joseph Chirm 1s headborough of Birmingham, and
was present at the search of Booth’s house on the 10th of
March, the officers first attempted to force open the door.
~-[Witness was here directed to go on to the 20th ( Friday ),
it not being thought necessary to recapitulate the accounts
.which had been given by Mpr. Linwood and the other wit-
nesses, but to confine Mr. Chirm’s evidence to the corrobo-
ration of J. Ingeley : there was some little confusion in the
first part of this, owing to mistaking Richard Ingeley for
John Ingeley, but when this was rectified Mr. Chirm stated}
that on the 20th of March he was taken by John Ingeley
into a field about a quarter of a mile from Booth’s house,
John Ingeley was then in custody, witness had taken him
into custody that day, he thinks about noon, and 1n less
than an hour afterwards John Ingeley took witness to the
field, in which they found a trunk, that which witness
now sees upon the table—Ingeley shewed him where it
was ; it was then locked, but not (as now) corded; 1t
was buried about two feet deep, and covered with soil and
manure—they afterwards went into the rick-yard, and
there found six narrow copper-plates, which witness
marked ; those now shewn to him are them—{rtkese are
the plates by which the dates are put upon the nores | —they
were hid under the thatch of the rick; Ingeley reared a
ladder, went up, and brought them down—they then went
into the field adjoining the rick-yard, they there
found three plates, two in one place and one in another ;
both places were in the hedge bank, not in the ditch but
in the bank; witness gave the plates to Thomas Dale,
they.were wrapped up in paper; the plates were waxed
over on one side and then wrapped up. Witness has an

.
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account of what was found in that trunk; he opened it
when he ¢ot home at Birmingham, 1t was then locked, and
he forced it open; he marked all the things he found in
the box or trunk : the 14 note now shewn [which was the
1L. note, the subject of this indictment| 1s one of those
which were in the trunk—so are the 5/ notes and the
10/ notes.

Mr. ALLEY here objected to this evidence; if the charge
against prisoner had becn for uttering this nr)te the other
notes might have been produced to shew the 9..10 animo,
but here the charge 1s for forging the notes, and he (Mr.
Allev) did not know of any case where on a charge of
forgery evidence had been carried that length.

Sir 5. Le Braxc thought Mr. Alley rather premature
i his objection; there was a count in the indictment
which charged the prisoner with disposing of the note,
and 1t was too soon to call upon Mr. Jervis to make his
election what count he would elect: this was intended
(coupled with John Ingeley’s evidence) to shew what was
in the box, and the prisoner’s knowledee of the contents.

Mr. Arrev apologized ; not having been in Court
when the indictment was 1(*:1(1 he had concluded from
Mr. Jervis's opening that the ch.,uot, was confined to the
forgery, and not for the uttering.

Mr. Chirm proceeded, and identified in the box the
following :—

The ][. note m question : . 1
3 other similar notes 1 the pos-

session of Mr. Kaye. . 3

77 other 1/ notes, similar . ¢~

35 other 1/ notes : A : 35

130 other 1/. notes : . . 130

Making in the whole . 240—1/. notes,
all of which were pc:fe(,t notes, signed, dated, and fully
completed for 1ssuing ; there were “also 13 blanks with the
water mark ONLE and BANK OF ENGLAND in the
paper—/|these 13 were from the same mould with the note
e questions the following 7 were from the same mould as
the singed note]—these 13 blanks had waved water-mark
lincs— the 7 other blanks with straight lines- 4 notes for
10/, cach, swned and perfect—and 11 for 5. each, also

perfect: these were all in the trunk, together with a quan-
tity of paper.
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Cress-evamined by Mr. TauNToN.—Witness had posses-
sion of the trunk some few hours before e opened it; he
had not the key, he never looked for the key; witness
went to Booth's on the 16th; he saw John Ingeley on that
day ; the oflicers continued in the house until the 20th,
and later ; he does not know if John Ingeley would have
been permitted to go away, there he was four days before
he made any discovery ; witness did not offer any induce-
ment to him to make a discovery—did not say he should
be well rewarded—he gave the information voluntarily ;
witness does not know what the other oflicers might have
said to Ingeley on that subject.

On a question from the Judge, Mr. Chirm said that
John Ingeley was in and about the house from Monday
to I'riday, but he cannot say whether he was detained or
not—there certainly was no warrant against Ingeley.

- Richard Ingeley was servant to the prisoner when pri-
soner wus taken—he had worked for him several years ;
prisoner gave to witness a plate about a fortnight before he
was taken, and told him to take it and plant it—witness
took it, it was wrapped in paper; he duga hole and plunted
the plate in the wheat field adjoining the rick-yard 5 on the
Iriday after Booth was apprehended he shewed Chilling-
worth where he had planted it. -One of the punches with
fioures in cut on ivory, for the purpose of stamping the
Nos. on the notes, beine shewn to witness, he says he has

: o .
seen Booth using such as that in the room over the par-

lour, upon papers like notes, on which there was printing ;
they made marks on the paper when so used ; there were
rollers in that chamber—he has seen them used; he has
secen Mrs. Booth and Mris. Chidlow use them when Booth
was in the room—they had boards, cloths, large plates,
and papers—he has scen them so used several times, but
does not recollect the exact times when.—The copper-
plates on which the words of the 1/ notes were engraved
were then shewn to witness : he has seen those plates used,
those are called the large plates—and on being shewn the
narrow plates, with the date upon them, he says he has
scen those also used, those are what they. called lines ; first
‘they used the large plates—they used them to print with;
they put paper upon them, and then put them between the
cloths and boards, and then through the rollers; then
they used the small plates or lines—they put a note on a
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board, then put this narrow plate on the note; his mistress
(Mrs. Booth) then put the boards in on one side between
the rollers, and Mrs. Chidlow pulled them out on the
other; the notes were then hung on strings to dry, mnecar
the fire: he saw Booth using the punch with letters and
figures on the Thursday night before he was taken, and the
narrow plates were used between two and three o’clock
that same afternoon—the narrow plates were used first,
and then Booth used the punch, but Mrs. Booth and
Mrs. Chidlow were at work with the lines at the same
time that Booth was at work with the punch.

Cross-evamined by Mr. Crirrornp. — Is no scholar:
knows the difference between printing and writing—he
saw these printed, so knows them to be printing, he
could not otherwise tell 1f 1t was printing or writing—he
could not tell if the punches were put on printing or
writing 1t he had not seen them printed, nor if the note
was a bank note.

Re-evamined.—There was no writing or printing on the
papers before the copper-plates were used—there was im-
mediately after.

Examined by the Judge.— It was Thursday before the
Monday that the officers took Booth, and in the room
over the parlour, that Booth was using the punch to put
marks on the notes, and the two women were at work at
the press at the same time, and in the same room.

Samuel Holloway, a DBirmingham constable, searched
Booth’s house on the 16th March, he found a smali frame
with letters and figures m 1t; that shewn [whick was No.
15223} he believes to be the same, he gave 1t to Mr. Baker,
it lay in the front part of the chamber, next to the fold
yard, he observed a board in the floor, which he took up,
and this frame was under it. . L

Cross-evamined by Mr. ALLEY.— He believes all the
people in the house were detained ; witness was not left in
the house, |

Re-exvamined.—He did not take Ingeleys’ into custody ;
Chillingworth and Dale were left at the house.

Mr. Edward Baker, is one of the constables of Birming-
ham, was at Booth’s on the 16th March, he received the
stamp or frame from Samuel Holloway, that produced is
the same; on the bench to which the rollers were atfixed
ke found three blank notes, one of them, that which lay
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uppermost, was marked No, 15223, the other two were
without letters or numbers, this was in the room over the
parlour. The Ingeleys were nat taken mto custody till
the Friday, they were in the jnterim employed in carrying
out manure, and might have gone where they pleased, they
did not sleep in the house to his knowledge. Mr. bBaker.
here produced some cakes of printing ink, which he said
were found on the 17th, he received them from James De-
vis, and has had them ever since; the same day he also
found some wire, which he produced, it was In the garrct
over that chamber, and in the window of the chamber he
found a printing bass, the use of which he understands to
be to put the ik upon the plate.

Thomas Dale followed Mr. Chirm, on the Friday, into
the field adjoining the rick yard, and received from him
three copper plates, witness marked them, those produced
are the same ; they are plates, one for 10/. notes, one tor 5/
and one for 14

James Devis assisted in searching Booth’s honse on the
17th, he found some cakes of printing ink in the bureau in
the parlour; he gave them to Mr. Baker.

- My, William Bridges is paper maker to the Bank of Eng-
land ; be has seen the instrument called a hog, and the
sheet of wire produced, the hog is on the same principle
with the one used by witness, but worked in a different
manner to wash the paper and pulp; the alum and calves-
ears are used to make size, the alum is used in the size to
harden the paper; the frame produced with waved lines
and mauld, is an imitation, though a bad one, of what 1s
used for the Bank paper, it produces the waving water
mark, and the words One and Bank of England, all of
which are in that frame, and in the blanks now shewn to
him [part of the blanks found in the trunk] ; he believes
he marked those blanks, had seen them before, but on re-
examining them he finds the initials are not his, but Mr.
William Brewer’s, the letters W. B. being his own initials,
at first deceived him; he examined the papers at Mr,
Chirm’s, they were made from that mould, he has made
some from it, with the pulp found at prisoner’s ; the bank
note in question, No. 21099, is not made from that mould,
nor is that which was found in the chimney, and those two
notes were each made from different moulds, and are of

different descriptions of paper,
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- Cross-eranuned.—They are not made from the mould”

produced ; he does not speak as to the plate ; has not exa-
mined to ascertain if the plate is the same.

Mr. William Breweris paper mould maker to the Bank
of England; six blanks [ found in the trunk] now shewn
to him, were made in that mould.

The Court asked if this related to the note in question,
and on being informed it did not,- Mr. Brewer's examina-
tion proceeded no further.

Mr. Joseph Henry Harper, is engraver to the Bank of
England, and engraves all the plates for their notes; the
inpression on the note in question is not good, that-is, it
1s not a genuine Bank of England note, does not know if
genuine paper, he has nothing to do with that, it is not
Bank 1k, and the printed part is a forgery in every re-
spect; the singed note is an impression from the same
plate as the other, and of course is not genuine, he has ex-
amined the other notes before, and marked them, they are
all from the same plate as the two before mentioned —the
numbers are progressive—the plate now shewn [which
was that lod by Richard Ingeley, and shewn and delivered by -
fum to Chillingworth). is the plate from which those notes
were made, the date 1s 31st July 1811, that is put on the
notes by the narrow plate now shewn [one of the six taken
by Ingeley from under the thatch of the wheat rick], those’
are not genuine—the singed note'is dated 16th May 1811,
that date was put on by another line or narrow plate, also
ene of those six. G | .

Ay, Thomas Glover is an inspector of notes to the Bank
of England, and has been for above 20 years. On look-
10g at the note in question, he said it is a forged one—the-
paper, the impression, the signature, all are forged, it is
forged throughout in every respect—the singed note is also
a forgery throughout. The notes found in the trunk were
shewn in different parcels to Mr: Glover, who stated that
the 130 (first parcel shewn) were ali forged; 81 others
similar to the note in question (which indeed is included
In that number), and 35 others similar to the singed note,
are every one forged.

Mr. Linwood was again called ; said he was at Booth’s.
every day, and saw the Ingeleys on Thursday evening,
and they were then at liberty, and had been all the time:
from Booth's apprehension on the Monday,. until . thag

o
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evening (the following Thursday) and were during that
time going about the farming business, he saw them again
on I'riday, and they were then in custody. |

The note No. 21099, the subject of the indictment, being
now read by the Clerk of the Arraigns, -

Mr. Jervis said, ¢“ That, my Lord, is our case.”

Mr. ALLeEy now called upon the counsel for the prosecu-
tion to make their election on which count they meant to
call for conviction. _ '

Mr. JErviIs declined so doing. B

Mr. ALLeY said, “See what has been done, by putting
in a count for disposing of the notes, evidence of other
notes has been let in, which could not Lhave been done in a
prosecution for forgery.” - SR

The JupcE said, evidence of the contents of the trunk
might be given, they having been sent away from the
house. | . )

Mr. ArLEY admitted the contents of the trunk might be
produced, but they had gone farther, they had gone on to
shew, that all those notes were forged ; evidence certainly
on a prosecution for uttering a note knowing it to be forged,
the proof of otherforged notes being in his possession, was
admissible evidence,because it tended toshew the knowledge
of its being forged ; butin a prosecution for forgery, though
he admitted all found upon him might be given in evidence,
vetevidence of their being forged, could notin sucha prose-
cution be admitted to prove that the note in question was
forged. Mr. Alley referred to his own notes of the case of
Thos. Flannaghan, at the last April sessionsat the Old Bailey,
before Lord Ellenborough,.in which another note was pro-
duced, and though his Lordship admitted to give it in evi-
dence, yet he would not admit that it should be proved to
be forged, or that the prisoner had admitted it to be so.
Mr. Alley never in all his practice knew that to be admitted
in evidence, which had been this day in a prosecution; if
the presecutors would say they would call for conviciion
only on the count for disposing of the note, he would be
satisfied ; but if that evidence was admitted 1n a prosecu-
tion for forgery, it was a rule adopted in favour of the Go-
vernor and Company of the Bank of England, which
would not be admitted between A. and B, r 4

The Jupck said, the learned counsel was mistaken, he

iy | -
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should certainly admit it if this was the case of a private
bank.

Mr. JErvrs sald, it has been admitted in this very court,
in such a case.

Mr. TauxTow said, the bare possession of forged notes
was a separate offence, and he believed there were ndict-
ments against the prisoner for that very offence ; the utter-
ing of other notes was not a necessary medium of proot of
the forging of them: suppose this was a prosecution for
foremg a bond, could 1t be given in evidence that the pri-
soner had forged other bonds; and where was the diifer-
ence between the forgery of a bond and the forgery of a
note. |

His Lonpsuip said, the counsel for the prisoner had’
taken this objection, without taking along with them the
ground on which that evidence had been admitted ; 1t was
certainly on a general ground not adinissible evidence, that
one note should be proved to be forged to shew that
another was so, but here the notes being found in the house
of the prisoner, his working at them, and the various cir-
cumstances proved this, were applicable to shew that the
prisoner had been guilty of forgery; and 1t was necessary
to prove that the prisoner had directed these notes to be
conveyed away and hid, and for the officer to prove that they
were found s9 hid, in order to show the prisoner’s knowledge
of what those notes were, and his acting in the manufac-
tory of them, so as to demonstrate that he was, though not
the sole person who forged them, assisting and taking part
in the forgery. _ |

Mr. CrirrorD said, he had two objections to this indict-
ment; the first was, that as this was an indictment under a
particular Act of Parliament, the words of that statute
must be attended to in the indictment; the first clause of
this Act (45th George IIL c. 89) makes it felony falsely to
torge, make, alter, &c. and goes on, or for causing, aiding,
assisting, &c. 1 forging, &c. and in that clause there is no
‘mention made of the Bank of England. The second clause
related to the Bank of England, but that clause was con-
fined to the forging, making, &c. and did not extend to the
causing, aiding, &c. and therefore, unless it had been
proved that the prisoner did actually forge the note in ques-
tion, his aiding and assisting, or even causing that note to
be forged, was no offence under that clause. —His second
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objection was, that the mere forging notes was not an of-
fence, because aman for curiosity merely mi ghtmakean im1-

tation of a bank note, and lock it up, without, ever intend-
ing to make use of it, but it must be coupled with an in-
tent to defraud to make it an offence, and in this case it
must be shewn that the indictment was laid in the words of
the Act, which says, with intent to defraud the Governor
and Company of the Bank of England—now the 1ndict-
ment only says Company of the Bank of England, and
does not mention the Governor.

Mr. Kave referred Mr. Clifford to the indictment, and
Mr. Clifford having seen that the Governor was not omit-
ted there, said, “ Well then, that objection must fail, and
I must rely on my first.” '

Siry S. Le Braxe said, ¢ Mr. Clifford, though there may
be the difference between the two clauses of the Act which
you state, yet if this is a promissory note as well as a bank
note, and if it is shewn to be a promissory note, that brings
it within the first clause of the Act; if it is shewn to be a
bank note, that brings it within the second clause.”

Mr. CLiFrorD —* Might not a man make, without an
intent to defraud; there is no proof here of the uttering
with that intent.” | ,

Jupae— ¢ The Jury will decide upon the intention of
the prisoner, from the facts proved.” ‘
 No witnesses were called on behalf of the prisoner, nor
did he say any thing in his defence.

His Lowrpsu1p then summed up the evidence, and ob-
served, the question for the Jury to decide was, 1f the
prisoner did or did not forge the note 1 question—that 1s,
whether or not it was foreed under his direction or with
his knowledge : that it was a forged note, after the evi-
dence they had heard, there could be no doubt. It was
not necessary to support the charge of forgery that the
person charged should be the hana who did it; it is sufhi-
cient if done under his direction or by his order, or if he
appears the leading or master hand 1n the act: agalnst
the prisoner, it had been proved in whose house 1t was
that these transactions were carried on---the situation and
description of that house—the manner 1n which the pri-
soner acted—the directions he had given—his operation
on the notes with the small stamp, while his wite and Chid-
low were at work in another part of the same room; and
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if these proofs brought home to their minds the conviction
that the prisoner was guilty of forging the notc 1 ques-
tion, it would be for them to say so. This note was proved
to have been in the trunk which prisoner had directed
John Ingeley to bury on the day when the officers came to
his house ; for it had been shewn that when Dorothy Inge-
ley came to him, and told him that the runners were
coming, the first act of the prisoner was te dircct Ingelcy
to take that trunk and bury 1t—His Lordship then stated
in what manner the house was fortified, and the way In
which the officers were obliged to obtain entrance—the
situation in which the prisoner was found-—the implements
and materials found in the house, every thing necessary
for making paper, with the water-marks similar to those
of the Bank of England,  the plates, the lines, the small
stamp or punch, the rags, the pulp, &c. &c. were all there:
and putting all these together, the question was, whether
they proved that.the prisoner, with the assistance of those
about him, did make those forged Bank notes, or whether
all these things could be-in that house, and so used, and
the different - articles so buried, without his knowledge.
if he forged the notes in that trunk, then he must have
forged the note in question, that being one of them.  To
be sure, the proof against the prisoner-was circumstantial,
but even in murder, as well as many other offences, the
offenders were often found guilty on circumstantial evi-
dence, which might be more satisfuctory than the bare
proof of the fact, as less liable.to be mvented. _

- The Jury almost immediately returned a verdict of
Guilty.

._---—-—--q___

——

- On the same day, WILLIAM BOOTH and GEORGE
SCOT were tried, upon an indictment against the statute
of the 13th of his present Majesty, for making paper, and
having 1n their possession and using a mould for making
paper, with words “ Bank of England” therein.

Mr. Jervis said, this salutary Act was passed for pro-
tecting rthe Bank of England, this mark being in their
paper for the purpose -of distinguishing it from other
paper—the charge against the prisoners was for making
such paper, for having possession of a mould for that pur-
pose, and jor using such mould, It was sufficient if he



29

could prove any one of those facts against the prisoners:
he should prove that Scot gave directions for the making
of the frame to that mould, and for making the implement
called a hog, and that he (Scot) paid tor them. The
situation of the house, and the manner in which it was
fortified, how -the officers had got in, and what they
afterwards found, it was not necessary for him. to detail,
though as this was a distinct trial from the last they muss
be detailed 1n evidence.

Ann Brookes .was the first witness called on the part of
the prosecution. - She lived servant with Booth about four
years, and quitted his service last Michaelmas s he was the
master of the house, and held a farm with it; she does not
know George Scot : being directed 1o look at the prisoners,
she said she knew them both—he that stood farthest from
her was called the Scotchman ; he came to Booth last year,
if he had stayed till this hay harvest he: would have been
there twelve months ; she did not know what business the
Scotchman was—does not know what he did; there he
was, sometimes up stairs, sometimes down ; he slept there;
she does not know that he did any thing —he did not
work on the farm—he eat with the family; she was never
in the upper part of the house ; she knows the room called
the granary—mnever saw . the Scotchman come out of that
roon. e fesead at - *
~ Cross-evamined.— Scot boarded and lodged as a private
gentleman with her master; never saw Booth in any room
but the kitchen. ' _

This witness seemed determined to know nothing that
would affect the prisoners.

My, Linwood proved the constables going with the
soldiers to Booth’s house, the manner in which the house
was fortified, that the trap doors were the only way to get
into the chamber and garret over the parlour, their search,
and what they found there; but this being given 1n evi-
dence on the first trial, and the present being only a repe-
tition of that evidence, 1s omitted here, the more particu-
larly as the things found in the lumber room and granary
were what immediately related to the present charge.—
When the officers went to the lumber room. the door was
locked, and they forced it open—they found 1n that room
two bundles of wire, one round, the other flat—they hung
on the malt-mill ; the mould and frame were also foung -
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theré, lying in a'cavity of the beam between the beam and
the plaister ; Faylor first saw it, - gave it H\*it'nk:aq and he
immediately handed it to Clay 5 two pieces of paatcboaul
were found, and given in like manner to Clay: 1n the oras
nary were found tivo tubs and pulp, and by the side of “the
tubs a sheet of wire with pulp uponit; there was no way
(excepta man got in at the window) into this granary, but
through the lumber room’'; the hog was’ also found
were alum and calves-ears, but they were not taken mvay
until the 17th; he fastened the door by driving the staple
m aeain which they had forced out to get- mto the room ;
Unllnwwmth on the 17th, oave him a key with which he
opened “the door—the lock was a ver y good' one, “the 'key
large; they found one copper frame a.ml two wooden ones
the hogo and other articles were ploduced -and were I(lel‘ltl-
hed by witness.’ | $33HA ¢

“John Ingeley proved, as'before, the notice given by
Dmothy Ingeley that the officers were coming, the conduct
of the prisoner thereon, his directing the trunk afid other
articles to be planted, an(l th at Scot had oftcn the key of
the lumber room. | . 3

On his cross-examination, ‘he said, he came f'mwald
acainst the prisoners in h()pes to save his own life :'Scot
had sometimes aone with the horses to plough—he (Scot)
lived 1n the house he eat there, but he had nothing to do
in the house that witness: Lnew of but to stamp 5s. and 3s.
pleces, and so on. A R .,

Joseph Chillingwortn proved his going to assist in search
at Booth’s, his conversation with Booth while on'the lad-
der, his getting 1n at the garret window, and the various
articles found in the house and the manner in-which they
were found, in the same way in which he proved them on
the former trial: he said Scot was not in the house when
the search was made, at least he did not see him, but he
came 1 about eight o’clock at night, apparently as it come
from work in the fields; witness. took him 1nto custody,
and found the key of the luthber room door in his jacket
pocket; Mr. Linwood had left that door locked ; witness
tried the key—it unlocked the lock of that door, and he
again locked it with the Lef—-—-he did not go into the room;
witness asked Scot what his name was—he would not tell
what 1t was; witness again asked him—he refused to say;
if then 'wkwl what he Wa’i-—PII“OI"'t‘I‘ sald he was steyard
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to My, Booth; witness was present when the hog was
found : he searched the parlour chimney on the Tuesday—

he found many mnotes burnt, one was only browned; he

gave them immediately to Brownell—witness s an assistant

to Brownell.

G. Scot (the prisoner) said, the witness spoke false—
he never said he was steward to Mr. Booth; the witness
swore untruly, like all the rest of them.

Gideon Taylor proved, as before, his finding the frame,
mould, and other things, his giving them to Mr. Linwood,
and Mr. Linwood’s delivering them to Clay.

My. Charles Clay proved his being present when Taylor
found those articles, and their being delivered to him, and
he identified them by his mark upon them, he having
scribed his name on the copper frame, and wrote 1t on the
others.

Mr. W. D. Brownell was at prisoner’s (Booth’s) house,
on the 17th—saw Chillingworth find the papers mentioned
as burnt and singed in the parlour chimney, which were
immediately delivered to witness, who has had possession
of them ever since: he produced and identified them—the
words ONE and BANK OF ENGLAND were visible 1n
one that was much singed, or as Chillingworth had called
1t, browned. ,

Mr. Crrrrorp thought there were no such words to be
seen in that note; but the note being handed to his Lord-
ship, he said they were very visible, as indeed they were.

Mr. Chirm proved going on Friday the 20th of March
with J. Ingeley, and the finding the box in a field about a
quarter of a mile from the house, in the way before de-
seribed ; and he also identified the contents of that trunk,
and particularly that some blank pieces of paper, with
the water-mark therein, were part of those contents.

Thomas Dale was present when Scot was taken by Chil-
lingworth, who searched him, and in the prescence of wit-
ness found a key on Scot, which he saw Chillingworth
try in the lock of the door of the lumber room. which led
to the granary, and it fitted that lock : he heard Chilling-
worth ask Scot what was his name, which he refused to
give ; and on being asked what he was, he replied he: was
servant or steward to Booth. | (112

John Green is a carpenter, knows Scot the prisoner, and
that he lived at Booth’s; he lives about three-fourths of .2
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mile from Booth’s; Scot emploved witness to make him
several frames, the one now produced is one that he made,
—[at fitted the copper mould, for making the paper in imita-
fion of bank notes]—he made a deal one like that, before
he made that; Scot brought back the deal one, and said it
was too thin and weak, ‘and witness pulled it in pieces;
Scot brought a half rule, on which he had notched the
length and breadth, witness made the frame accordingly, it
1s of oak, and much stronger than the former, witness put
on the leather which is affixed to it; this was about a fort-
night before Booth was taken up. The hog was produced,
witness also made that, and the Scotchman directed it to
be made, and how it should be made, and was with witness
several times while he was making it, to see that witness
went on right; witness made two frames to the hog, the
- first frame was very light, and after it had been made about
twomonths, Scot came to himagain, and directed a stronger
to be made, and the present one was then made, which is
four times as strong as the first was, Scot directed that it
should be rather wider than the former frame, which was
done accordingly, this alteration was made about nine days
before the prisoner was apprehended ; witness did not make
the brushes in the hog, they were broughtto him by Scot;
witness never made such a thing before, nor did he know
how to make it till shewn by the Scotchman: the Scotch-
man paid him for the hog, when he first made it, he told
him to come to Booth’s house for the money, which wit-
ness did, and the Scotchman then paid him; the last work
18 not yet paid for.

Cross-examined.-—He made the frame and hog by direc-
tion of the Scotchman, and he (Scot) paid for it: Booth
sald never a word to witness; he believes the Schotchman
lodged at Booth’s; but, as to the frame or the hog, he never
had any communication with Booth.

Scot, on being asked if he wished any questions put to
this witness, said,  All that he has said is a falsity.”

Samuel Hall (aboy) lived with Booth ‘as a servant, he
went to Booth abouta week after Christmas.; he has fetched
corn from the granary for the horses, the key of the room
leading to it was sometimes given to him by Mrs. Booth,
sometimes by Mrs. Chidlow, and sometimes by the Scotch-
‘man ; the Scotchman generally had it, but when he went
~out 1t was generally left with Mrs, Chidlow, = "
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. Cross-evamined.—Mr. Kaye, from London, told him to
oo away from Booth'’s, and Booth threatened to have him
taken before a justice of the peace for leaving his service.

- Mp. William Brewer, the paper mould maker to the
Bank, proved that the mould now produced, would make

paper with the words BANK OF ENGLAND visible in the
substance of the paper; 1t was not the mould of the Bank
of England, he is the sole mould maker to the Bank ; nei-
ther Booth or Scot are mould makers to the Bank ; the
blanks now shewn to the witness have the words BANK
OF ENGLAND visible in the substance of the paper, and
were made from that mould : witness ex’amined the pa-
pers which were found in the parlour chimney, and singed,
and the words BANK OF ENGLAND therein, they were
also made from that mould; witness has seen the hog and
other instruments for making paper ; the sheet of wire with
the pulp upon it, is for letting the waste waler through,
and saving the pulp; alum and size are used in making
paper; the wood frame with leather upon it, is always placed
upon the copper frame, otherwise it would be impossible to
get the paper off; as it 1s obliged to be very tender, in order
to press it close to the frame, and the leather swelling with
being wet, prevents the pulp from escaping ; the pieces of
pasteboard produced are used 1n forming the scroll, flou-
rish, and cheque, the cheque is the part to be cut through,
the flourish is next to the cheque, and the scrollis the part
which goes round the note; the words BANK OF ENG-
LAND are put in pencil on'the pasteboard, to prevent
the application of it in an1Mproper place ; witness assisted
in making paper with this mould, from some of the pulp
in the tub in which the hog stands, it was then in a dirty
state, he shewed one made by himself and Mr. Bridges, the
words BANK OF ENGLAND are visible in the substance

—[this paper was of a dirty brown colour, which witness at-

tributed to dust having got into the tub].
Cross-exvamined.—He is theonly mould maker to the Bank,

he is confident they employ no other, no one else could do
it to their satisfaction ; the mould produced would be a dis-

grace to them ; he admitted the Bank Directors might have

a mould made by way of experiment. _
-Here ended the evidence for this prosecution, no wit-

nesses were called on behalf of the prisoner.
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His Lorpsure, in summing up, observed, that it had
been proved, that the papers in the trunk were made from
the mould found in Booth’s house, besides which, the paper
tound m the parlour chimney, was also made from it; the
Jury would alsonotice, that Scot had the key of the lock in
his possession, which led to the room in which these 1mple-
mentsand materials were, besides, he ordered a frame for the
mould, and afterwards another, because he finds the first no.
longer fitfor use: he then ordered the hog, and afterwards a
new and stronger frame forit; to be sure a manin the capacity
of a servant mightbe sent to order these things, but if he had
possession of the mould, or if he assisted Booth in the

using 1t, he was equally guilty with Booth of the offence.
agamst the statute. |

The Jury found Booth guilty, and acquitted Scot.

el e

On Saturday morning, August 1, WILLIAM BOOTI

and ELIZABETH CHIDLOW were tried, for using plates
for making promissory notes in imitation of Bank of IEng-
land notes, and for having blank bauk notes in their posses-
sion without a written authority from the Governor and
Company of the Bank of England, against Statute of
45th Geo. 11I.

Mr. PuLLER stated the circumstances of the apprehen-
sion of Booth and Chidlow, with others, on the 16th of
March, and the description of the house, &c. as has been
before given, and that he should be able to shew that on
the Thursday previous to the 16th, Mrs. Booth and the
prisoner Chidlow began to print notes in imitation of Bank
of England notes, and were so employed until the witness
went to bed; and though on behalf of Chidlow it might
be said that Booth was her master, and she was as a servant
hound to obey his commands, yet 1f he could bring home
to her the charge against her the J ury would be bound to
find her guilty, because, if she assisted in doing. that
which she must know to be unlawful, her situation
would not protect her—if it would, there would be an end
to all punishment of accomplices, and if there were no
accomplices, a manufactory of this kind could not be car-
ried on~~[t¢ke rolling or copper-plate printing press was now
Placed upon the table.)<The machine now before them was one
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which could be worked by women as well as men, it not
requiring that degree of strength which some of the other
machines which would be shewn to them did require.-—
Mr. Puller then stated the acts done by Booth, his direc-
tious tor planting the different articles, &c. nearly as
stated by Mr. Jervis on the first trial, and that Booth and
Chidlow, and one other, were the persons found in the
parlour; and 1f Chidlow was merely a domestic servant
of Booth’s, how came she to be found with him in that
part of the house which was fortified and set apart for the
carrying on those manufactories of notes and coins. '

Dorothy Ingeley proved her going to the prisoner’s
house with information that the runners were coming, as
before. ' -

Richard Ingeley had worked several years for Booth,
but only for a constancy since Christmas, and he had slept
i the house only five weeks before the 16th of March :
Elizabeth Chidlow was in the house as one of the family,
‘when he went at Christmas; he has been employed wiih
Booth in the chamber over the parlour—he and BO()b],
and others, slept there; there was a machine in that cham-
ber hike that upon the table—he has seen Chidlow and
Mrs. Booth ‘at work with it; Chidlow turned it on one
stde and Mrs. Booth on the other—they had boards and
cloths, with plates, and pieces of paper like Bank notes—
they put the plate on the board and cloth, and then the
paper on the plate, and covered it with another board and
-cloth, then Mrs. Booth put them in on one side the press
between the rollers—they turned the rollers round, and
‘Chidlow took the boards out on the other side; he has
seen them so at work several times, but cannot ascertain
the particular times—the last time he saw them at work
was on the Thursday before Booth was taken up—they
were then using the small plates or lines on things like
bills ; they began to work between two and three o’clock
1n the afternvon, and between four and five witness went
and lay on the bed, leaving them <*'ll at work; while
“witness was in the room, Booth was employed with the
“punch with figures'on, and putting those figures on the
‘notes after they had nsed the lines to them, and the bills
or notes were then hung on strings near the fire to dry.
- Witness then proved, as before, Booth’s giving him direc-
“tions to plant a plate, and his shewing the plate to Chils
lingworth on the 20th of March,
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John Ingeley stated the circumstances as in the former
trial, and said, on the Saturday week before he was taken
he had seen Mrs. Booth and Chidlow at work at the print-
ing press, and he described their manner of working 1n
the same way his brother had done, and that the plate they
used was similar to the one now shewn to him (a 1Z4 note
plate—he then mentioned the directions he had recetved
from Booth, and his planting the trunk, plates, and lines
accordingly, and afterwards his shewing them to the
officers, precisely as before. '

M. Chirm proved the manner of getting into the house,
&c. as in former triais, and that he saw a rolling press simi-
lar to that in Court in the chamber of Booth’s house ; he
then gave an account of the finding the plates and trunks,
as betore. | | -

Joseph Chillingworth repeated his former evidence as to
oetting into the house, the rolling press being in the cham-
ber, his finding the singed notes 1 the chamber and par-
lour chimneys, and the plate shewn by Richard Ingeley.

Thomas Dale received the three plates from Mr. Chirm.

Mr.. Linwood’s evidence was the same as on Booth’s first
trial, only he did not go so much into detail : the particu-
lar part which affected the prisoners, on this charge, was
the finding the rollers, boards, cloths, printing ink, and
woollen boss, and Booth’s situation, dress, and dirty
hands, when taken. = _

Mr. Baker identified the boss and can in which the
printing 1nk was contained. ¢S

Myr. Harper, engraver to the Bank of England, proved
the blank Bank bills produced to be forgeries, and that
they were printed from the plate now shewn to him—the
plates and lines are all made of copper. -

Mpr. Glover, the inspector to the Bank, proved the blank
Bank note set forth in the indictment to be a forgery, as
well as several of the others.

No defence, or witnesses for prisoners.

The learned JupeE, in summing up the evidence, ob-
served, that the blank Bank notes were those in which the
printing part was performed, but were without signature,
and the one particularly in question without date too—
that there was no proof in what situation Chidlow was,
but even were she a servant to Booth, that would be no

excuse for her having committed this offence, for though
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a person might be more criminal who was in the situation
of master, yet a servant ought to resist temptation, and
not commit a breach of the law. In one instance only
cdid the law allow the plea of supposed coercion—that was
in the case of a wife, whom the law supposed to be under
the controul of her husband, but the law did not admit
such a plea on the part of servants. |

The Jury found both the prisoners Guilzy.

N. B. "The punishment directed by the Act for this
offence 1s 14 years’ transportation.

— . ———

WILLIAM BOOTH and GEORGE SCOT were again
tried; the charge now against them was for coining dol-
lars, against the statute 44th Geo. I1I..—The indictment
charged the prisoners with coining a piece of coin called a
dollar, having an immpression on the obverse side of his Ma-
jesty's head, and the words ¢ Georgius I1I. Dei Gratia
Rex,” and on the reverse, a figure of Britannia, and the
words “‘ Iive Shillings, Dollar, Bank of England, 1804.”
~_The press for cutting out the pieces of plated metal, of
the sizes of dollars, 8s. and 1s. 6d. pieces, stood on the table
—the press for making the impressions thereon, was too
large to be brought into the inner court, and stood in the
outer one.

Mr. PuLLER stated what was the offence charged against
the prisoners, which the statute had made punishable with
seven years’ transportation; that every implement and ma-
terial necessary for making dollars was found in the garret
of Booth’s house, except the dies which had been given by
Booth to John Ingeley to plant, as was his constant custom
with every article which would immediately shew what was
the nature of his employment; the engines could not be
readily removed and replaced, those engines might be em-
ployed in lawful business, but the dies, and the other ar-
ticles which he was in the habit of having buried, could
~hot be used lawfully. |

Mr. Linwood was in the oarret on the 16th March, and
found there a large press, that now in the outer hall, 1t was
large and powertul enough to raise the impression of any
current coin of this kingdom; the witness 1s a plater, and
uses 1n his business engines of a similar nagure, and there-
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fore knows the power they have ; thaton the table is a cut-
ting out p1ess, and there were in that garret tools for cut-
tmrr out dollars and 3s. tokens; a quantity of collars, that
1s,.1ron rings, the hollow of which 1s of the size of 5s. 6d.
3s. and 13d. bank tokens were in the garret, thesc are put on
the pieces when they are put in the press, between the dies,
and arc to prevent the metal spreading from the pressure;
there was also a quantity of rolled plated metal, of the
thickness of 3s. and 184d. tokens, a bottle of aquafortls i)
quantity of cecil or plated crop, which is the waste plated
metal after the rounds are taken out, the blanks in which
were of the size of 3s. and 184. tokens; a quantity of pickle,
or sharp water, or aquafortis and water in earthen pans,
used in cleaning the metal when cut out; a quantity of
sawdust used for shaking the metal in w hen taken out of
the sharp water; a small quantzty of borax, with silver used
in plating the edges of the pieces of metal so cut out; sc-
veral tools for edgmg, a large bench of vices, a large lathe
for turning, to edge or bmmsh a quantity of wood
.chocks, used to knocl-.. the coin out of the collars, a gild-
ing pan, a gilding hat and gilding brush, a pamr of lalﬂe
*shop bellows a shop hearth of brick to which the bellows
were fixed, a casting tub, with casting sand 1n 1t, casting
moulds an(l boards, and casting tOIl“b for tal\uw' castlnﬂ‘
pots out of fire, some casting pots or cruczbles, a quanttty
of copper melted down in pots quantity of tin cans, nearly
-covered with dirt, some of the same sort of cans were found
in a hedge bank, quantity of lead and of tin that had been
melted 1n LdStlI]g pots, a quantity of kneading pans, some
forcing dies used in the press, they are blanks, bottle of
gunpowder, quantity of bullets and bullet mould a quan-
ity of files and bandles, a large piece of woollen cloth,
some blank sizes without impressions, punches and drills, a
small ladle used to melt gold and quicksilver, a brace to
_bore holes with, a mortar “and pestle, a brick furnace for
casting, and a quantlty of coaks.—In the chamber were
a qua.ntity of blanks cut out, of the size of 18d. tokens
'-—[/zcre the cutting out press was worked in the Court, to
shew s action on the metal, the pieces there cut out were of
the size of 3s. tokens; the machine for edging was also
used].—Mr. Linwood said, the notches were made by put-

‘ting 1n one groove, and the edges were smoothened by the
smooth groove, -
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Crass-evamined.—He was never employed to coin for the
Bank; he uses similar presses 1n his trade ; the things he
found in Booth’s house are not the size for buttons; he
1s a plater, and uses aqua fortis for cleaning; he is a
Birmingham constable.

Re-evamined.—He 1s constable for the year only-~he
never saw buttons cut out of ‘the size ot dollars.

JohnIngeley repeated his accountas to working for Booth,
and that he was employed in the barn, until about eight or
nine days before Booth was apprehended ; DBooth came
into the barn on the Friday week before that time, and
asked him 1f he would help him for a couple of hours in the
house, which witness agreed to do, and as they went across
the yard, Booth said, if any body should ask you what we
have been doing, say we were striking penny pieces; he
then said he believed witness's brother was going to leave
him, and if witness would work for him, he would give him
the same wages he did his brother, which were 25s. a week ;
witness replied, from what he could learn from his brother,
1t was not a fitting job for any one to do for twice 25s. a
week ; witness, however, agreed to assist him, but not for a
constancy; Booth then took himinto the parlour, he never
was in that room before, Booth shut the doors in the pas-
sage after them, and fastened them, they then ascended up
the ladders through the trap doors into the garret; witness
was there again on the Monday following, Booth, the
Scotchman, and witness’s brother were then there, they
were employed 1n striking oft dollars, his brother and him-
self worked the press, Booth put in the blanks between the
two dies, they then flung the press round, which stamped
the impression of the die on the piece, Booth then took
them out, the Scotchman put them through the edgers,
that was done before the impression was put on, the Scotch-
man gave them to Booth as he edged them, and Booth then
put them between the dies; they were employed at this
about four hours, from four in the morning until about
eight : Booth, Scot, witness, and his brother, all slept .
the chamber over the parlour the preceding night: the
doors to the parlour (in the passage) were shut and fast-
ened when witness came down to breakfast about eight
o'clock that' morning; two or three hours after breakfast,
Booth told witness to take the dies they had been using,
and plant them, they were covered over with soft piteh
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and grease to prevent their rusting, witness planted them
at the back side of' the barn, m a field which adjoins the
garden ; the same day- Booth gave witness two small edg-
ing tools, and told him to plant them, which he did in the
thatch of a hovel at the back of the barn; the next day
(Tuesday the 10th March) Booth gave witness a tin can
wit some 5s. and 3s. pieces in, and told him to plant that;
witness thinks there were six of the 5s. pieces, and nine of
the 3s. but is not certain as to the number, he planted those
in the wheat field ditch, adjoining the rick yard ; on the fol-
lowing Monday Booth was apprehended ; on the I'riday after
witness shewed Mr, Chirm where the dies for 5s. pieces were
hid, they were in the same place he put them 1n, he took
them up and gave them to Mr. Chirm ; on the Saturday he
shewed Browaell where the small can was put, took 1t up
and gave 1t to him, he then shewed him where the edging
tools were hid, they were found in the same place, Brownell
took possession of them; Scot was at Bootl’s®Wwhen witness
went at Christmas. | e

Richard Ingeley corroborated his brother as to being
at work in the garret on the Monday when the two pri-
soners were employed, as stated.

Mpr. Chirm corroborated John Ingeley as to finding the
dies 1in the wheat field, and identified them.

Myr. Brownell corroborated John Ingeley as to finding
the can and edging tools on the Saturday; he produced
them —1n the can were six dollars and ten 3s. pieces; they
were simgly wrapped up In paper, so as to separate them
the dollars were marked on the edges, to have the appear-
ance of having been old Spanish dollars re-stamped.

Mr. Philp 1s employed at Mr. Boulton’s Soho mint—he
1s sole engraver for all dies for coin and medals there; the
machines in Court are such as coin cannot be fabricated
‘without ; what are now before the Court are quite sufficient.
to make such money as that produced : he examined the
dies, and the dollar now shewn to him was made from
those identical dies—all the six produced by Mr. Brownell
were made from those dies —they are counterfeit; the
metal appears to be copper with a little silver plate over
1t; they are not Bank dollars, but they resemble them—
they have the same sort of head and reverse, and similar
inscriptions with the Bank dollars; he knows the dollar in

question to be counterfeit {rom the difference besween tha;

s
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and the dollars coined ‘at the Soho—all coined there are
struck from Spanish dollars.

Cross evamined.—The Spanish dollars re-stamped by
them are sent to them from the Bank of England—he
cannot say what quantity of silver 1s in each Spanish dol-
lar—he is not an assay master, nor ever assay’d them;
they have once or twice found a counterfeit Spanish dollar

among those sent from the Bank.
Re-evamined.—The dollars struck at the Soho are silver:

those produced here are copper plated.

My. Glover produced a genuine dollar, which he
brought from the Bank of England, for the purpose of
comparing it with the others—[ It was handed to the Court
and Jury, with one of Booth’s, for inspection. ]

No witnesses were called by the prisoners, nor did they
make any defence. _
 His Lorpstip observed, that the account of the Inge-
leys was strongly corroborated—and if their account was
true, there could be no doubt but that both the prisoners
weie guilty. -

Veérdict—both Guilty.

'On the sameé morning, WILLIAM BOOTH, JOHN
YATES the elder, JOHN YATES the younger, JAMES
YATES, JOHN BARROWS, and GEORGE SCOT,
were tried for coining 3s. Bank Tokens, against the Sta-
tute of 51st of his present Majesty. -

Mr. PuLLER said, this was a félony, which the Statute
had made punishable by transportation for seven years.
The witnésses would prove that all the implements neces-
sary for the manufacturing of 3s. tokens werc in Booth’s
housé, and that they were in use at different times from
the Tuesday preceding Booth’s apprehension until the
Sunday, in which using all the prisoners were in turns
engaged ; there would be also_the facts of the dies and
some tokens being hid; and the learned Gentleman ob-
served, that no person could be employed in manufacturing
those articles without knowing what he was doing.

My, Linwood again proved belng at Booth’s house, and
again enumerated the several articles found in the garret,
a5 e had done in the last trial.

r
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On his cross-examination, he said, he took his inventory
or account of the articles at his own house, from the
things themselves, which were sent there in a cart; he
could not say that he kept the cart in his immediate view
all the way from prisoner’s to Birmingham—it might be
out of his sight at different turnings of the road. |

On a question from his Lordship, Mr. Linwood said
that, independent of his inventory, he was certain that
every thing necessary for coining 3s. tokens (except. the
‘dies) were found in Booth’s garret.

- John Ingeley gave the same account as on the former
trials as to his going into Booth’s service, and that on the
Tuesday before his (Booth’s) apprehension, witness, toge-
ther with John Yates the elder, Booth,: and witness’s bro-
ther, were employed in striking 3s. pieces; witness and
Yates worked the fly [the large press]—Booth put in and
took out; they worked from about four in the morning
until about eight, nearly four hours—Yates and Booth
were there all the time ; the same day Booth gave witness
four dozen of 3s. pleces to plant—they were wrapped in
brown paper; he planied them in a field below the house,
called the Marsh; on Sunday the 22d he took Mr.
Brownell to the place, and took them up—he gave them
to Mr. Brownell : on the Thursday night before the appre-
hension, -about eight in the evening, witness and his bro-
ther, and Booth, were at work—hts brother and himself
worked the press, Booth put in and took out: on the
Friday morning, about three o’clock, John Yates the
younger, witness's brother—[kere the Judge stopped the
ecidence, telling My. Puller he could not go into offences
commtted by the respective prisomers on different days,
under one indictment.]~--J. Ingeley proceeded with what
passed on the Saturday (which Mr. Puller thought would
identify all the prisoners as employed on that day)—James
Yates, himself, and his brother, went into the varret, and
worked nearly four hours at striking 3s. pieces; James

. Yates then went out of the garret—T[his Lordship again

_saud that the prosecutors could not take one prisoner at one

tune and another at another time; to support the present
- . andictment they must shew that all the prisoners were present
- @t one time, or they could convict only thosewho were present
‘ut any one tume ; it probably would have been safer to have
tad distinct indictments.]—Witness then stated that on the
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Saturday evening before they began to work, Booth, James
Yates, the two John Yates’s, John Barrows, witness’s
brother, and himself, were all 1f the parlour at supper
together (Scot was not there) —himself, his brother, and
James Y ates, went mnto the garret, and worked i striking
off 3s. pieces for some time; they left Booth, two John
Yates’s, and Barrows, m the parlour; after they had
worked about two hours (at ten o’'clock) John Yates, jun.
came up, and about twelve o’clock James Yates went out;
the two Ingeleys and John Yates, jun. then worked till
about four o’clock 1 the morning, when they left off
work ; his brother then went to lay down—he saw him in
bed, he could see him through the trap door; the eldér
John Yates, Little Goodluck, (a mickname for Barrows)
and James Yates, then came into the garret, and those
three began to work—James Yates put under, and the
other two worked the fly ; they were striking 3s. pieces—
this before witness went down, which he then did, into
chamber below, to bed; Booth was in bed there; witness
lay and slept about three hours; he was not any more at
the press: he did not know the Yates’s till he went to
Booth’s—they came backward and forward occasiorally,
they did not work on the farm. ,
On his cross-examination, he said he had been engaged ~
1n-this manufactory himself in the way he had stated ; all =
the prisoners were there on Saturday night; witness was
brought to Stafford—he was not kept in confinement since
he came to Stafford ; he had walked out into the streets
without any body being with him; he came out of Wolyer-
hampton prison when he came here—a woman from' Bir-
minghany came to see him, and a man from Barr, too,
while at Wolverhampton—does not know who the woman
was, the man was named Parkes, he is a blacksmith —he
does aot know that Parkes is a constable: he gave the first
infofmation on the Friday, the day he was taken into cus-
tosy—nhe did so because the constables wished him to do
ir; he told every thing in hopes to save his own life.
Richard Ingeley was at Booth’s on the Saturday before
he was taken: he corroborated his brother as to the worlk
on daturday night by them and James Yates, but he went
down to bed before the others (except John Yates, jun.)
came: mto the garret: on the Sunday morning James
Yates gave witness three dies for 3s. pieces, and told him

.\"’
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to. plant -them—they were rubbed over with pitch and
grease ; he planted them at the bottom of the rick-yard,
under the stump of a post; on the Saturday following he
sﬁev& ed them to Mr Dale and. Mr. Linwood, who took
them.

' On, cross-examination, he said whathe had sta.ted all took
p]ace on the’ Sat,urday nlcrht and Sunday mmmng ; all the
prisoners were not. tooether at any.one time to work, as.
some went out others came 111--the} were all together at
supper -

Re-evamined—They could not a]l be employed in that
. Work at one time ; he planted a die in the wheat rick, and
a quantity of 3s. pieces under the side of the rick, by the
direction of Booth, which, he shewed. to Dale——tlps was
about a week before he shewed, them. ~

Re-w ass-examined,—Does nox: recollect the. day they
were given to him by Booth—-they were  not any. of the
3s. pieces struck on Saturday. -

Re-examined—He cannot szuy wlmh day, they were
struck. .

My, Bmwnell confirmed J. Ingeley in the ﬁqdmg the 35
pleces in the. Marsh Field, and produced. 47 of them, w hich,,
with the one spemﬁed mn the 1ndlctment, and, takan Qut for.

T~ .that purpose, made four dozen.

T. Dale cormbmated B, Ingeley as, to the d1es fopnd 1,
the rick yard. |

Mr. Linwood did. so too-—-thcy bmh ldentlﬁcnl thcm |

My, Philp examined the dies—they resemblp the. dlesé
for the 3s. Bank tokens,

Mr. PEARsON, on behalf of the prisoners, aal,d thf;rei
was no proof that these were the dies u.sed on fhe Satur-
day:. -
His Lorpsuip said, the ros;cutorsjmfust e.lect w‘gether.
they would take the. Tuesday or. the, Saturday. as the day,
on which the offence was committed—they c_ould not tike.
both.

Mr. PurrEr said, if such was. his Lordship’s, opmlon

he would take the Tuesday ;—and, as that day’s operations
only related to Booth and John. Yates, sen. the Jury found

Booth and John Yates Guilty, and acquitted the test of
the prisoners—who were accordingly.taken from. the bar,

iiiii

and J ohn Yates, sen. Scot, and Chidlow, bemfr set up,—

Sy



-His Lorpsii1p passed sentence upon them as fotlows:-.
John Yates, the elder, George Scot, and Elizabeth Chids,
low, have been convicted of felonies, somewhat similar
in their ‘nature, though the offences are different, and, fog:
which the legislature has directed different punishments;
Elizabeth Chidlow has been conyvicted of counterfeiting
blank Bank notes; George Scot, of coining counterfeit,
dollars; and John Yates, of coining counterfeit 3s. Bank
tokens; it is fresh in. the memory of® the Court what was
the situation of the house in which these. manufactorigs,
have been carried on, and we have heard that two of the
prisoners were resident in that house, and the other coming,
to.and going from it occasionally. and frequently ; the si«
tuation of that hquse; the care with which it was guarded,
and the implements there found, were such as rendered i
umpossible for any one of its inhabitants .to, be ignorang
what was carrying on in it, All the prisoners; have bgen
found guilty.of carrying on that trade (for trade 1t1s) which
the legislature has thought proper to punish withthat senas
tence the Court is now about to pronounce; which is, that
they severally be transported. to such place beyond the seas
as his Majesty, with the advice of his Privy Council, shall di»
rect; you, Elizabeth Chidlow, for the space of 14 years;
and each of you, George Sgot, and John Yates, for the
space of 7 years. | . |

‘His Lorpsuir then in the most awful and impressive
manner passed, Sentence of Deathupon Booth in the follows-
g words.; —* William Booth, you stand here to receive theg
judgment of the Court for two. capital offences, of which
a Jury of your country have tound you guilty ; it 1snot now
necessary for me to speak of the other indictments against
you, the crimes of which you were charged have been s
clearly proved againstyou as not to leave the possibility 0%
a doubt of your guilt in the mind of any person who hasg
heard any one of those trials; the mammerin which your house
was fortified, the implements and materials found in it, shew
most clearly that it was the seat of nefarious transactions.
Those who have been tried with you, and found guilty of
offences for which the law of the land inflicts a minor
punishment, may not have been drawn into the commission
of those crimes by you, but I much fear that others have
been induced by you to be participators of crimes which
but for you_they would not have committed, Y ou appear
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£havé been the master and general superintendant of all
“those employed and of all that was going on 1n the house in
which you resided, and within which there seems to have
been every implement necessary for the purpose of cheat-
ing the public—implements, engines, and materials of every
sort requisite for the fabrication of false paper and false
coin were found there; and this false paper and false coin
you have been in the habit, and I fear long in the habit, of
sending 1nto the world for the purposes of fraud and decep-
tion. Your's is not' the case of a 'person guilty of a single
offence, or against a single individual, but on the contrary,
from your manufactory innumerable quantities of those
false articles issued, to the impoverishing and defrauding
of every oneinto whose hands they fell, and from the exten-
siveness of that circulation, which from the great quantities
made by you and your associates they must have had, the
extent of those dcfrauds must have been very great.—
Under such circumstances you can have little reason to ex-
pect that the mercy of the law will be extended to you ; I
can hold out no hope for that expectation, but I do hope
you will now do that which I greatly fear you have hitherto
neglectcd—that 1s, that you will, by humble and devout
prayer and contrition, endeavour to prepare yourself for
that great and dreadful day, when, before a judgment-seat
far more awful than any earthly tribunal, you will be called
upon to give an account of your actions in this world;
the short interval that can be allowed to you between this
time and that of putting into execution the sentence which
the law directs me to pronounce upon you, I trust you will
employ in that preparation: it now only remains for me
to pass that sentence, which 1s—that you, Willium Booth,
be taken from hence to the place from whence you came, and
thence to the place of exvecution, there to be hanged by the
neck until you are dead ; and the Lord have mercy upon
your soul !” ' ' e
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